An update and review of arthropod vector sensory systems: Potential targets for behavioural manipulation by parasites and other disease agents

Jean-François Doherty* (D), Tahnee Ames (D), Leisl Imani Brewster (D), Jonathan Chiang (D), Elsa Cyr (D), Cameron R. Kelsey (D), Jeehan Phillip Lee (D), Bingzong Liu (D), Ivan Hok Yin Lo (D), Gurleen K. Nirwal (D), Yunusa Garba Mohammed (D), Orna Phelan (D), Parsa Seyfourian (D), Danica Marie Shannon (D), Nicholas Kristoff Tochor (D), and Benjamin John Matthews (D) Department of Zoology, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada *Corresponding author. e-mail address: jeff-doherty@hotmail.com

Contents

1.	Introduction	2
	1.1 Vector ecology in the 21st century	2
	1.2 Host manipulation in vectors	5
2.	Host seeking versus host feeding	7
	2.1 Host seeking mechanisms	7
	2.2 Seeing	9
	2.3 Hearing	10
	2.4 Smelling	11
	2.5 Sensing temperature and humidity	13
	2.6 Infrared sensing	14
	2.7 Host feeding mechanisms	15
	2.8 Tasting	15
	2.9 Mechanosensation	16
3.	Vector sensory systems and manipulation by disease agents	17
	3.1 Candidate vector sensory mechanisms subject to manipulation	19
	3.2 Proximate mechanisms of vector manipulation	20
	3.3 Interactions with vector microbiomes	21
4.	Key questions and ways to address them	22
Ad	vances in Parasitology	
ISS	SN 0065-308X, https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.apar.2024.02.003	1

ison (occord, indpan / donoig/ forforor bangarizoz (iozioco	
Copyright © 2024 Elsevier Ltd. All rights are reserved, including those for text and data	
mining, AI training, and similar technologies.	

ARTICLE IN PRESS

5. Conclusions and future directions	24
Glossary	24
Acknowledgements	25
Author contributions	26
Financial support	26
Resources	26
References	26

Abstract

For over a century, vector ecology has been a mainstay of vector-borne disease control. Much of this research has focused on the sensory ecology of blood-feeding arthropods (black flies, mosquitoes, ticks, etc.) with terrestrial vertebrate hosts. Of particular interest are the cues and sensory systems that drive host seeking and host feeding behaviours as they are critical for a vector to locate and feed from a host. An important yet overlooked component of arthropod vector ecology are the phenotypic changes observed in infected vectors that increase disease transmission. While our fundamental understanding of sensory mechanisms in disease vectors has drastically increased due to recent advances in genome engineering, for example, the advent of CRISPR-Cas9, and high-throughput "big data" approaches (genomics, proteomics, transcriptomics, etc.), we still do not know if and how parasites manipulate vector behaviour. Here, we review the latest research on arthropod vector sensory systems and propose key mechanisms that disease agents may alter to increase transmission.

1. Introduction

1.1 Vector ecology in the 21st century

Vector-borne diseases (see **Glossary**) like malaria, dengue fever, and West Nile Virus claim countless human and non-human animal lives every year. According to the World Health Organizationⁱ, over 700,000 people are killed annually by disease-causing agents (primarily bacteria, protists, and viruses) vectored by **hematophagous** arthropods (black flies, fleas, mosquitoes, ticks, etc.) that transmit them from infected to uninfected individuals via blood meals (Fig. 1). Although, not all blood-feeding arthropods are known to transmit disease, notably lice and bed bugs, which typically live in close association with their hosts (Lai et al., 2016). These diseases play an important role in emerging infectious diseases worldwide (Daszak et al., 2000) and are responsible for large-scale population declines of wild animals around the globe (LaDeau et al., 2007). Indeed, reducing the negative impacts of vector-borne diseases poses a serious challenge for researchers and policy makers, especially under the increasing disruption of known

2



Fig. 1 Hematophagy (blood feeding) across Arthropoda. Branching corresponds to estimated divergence times (in millions of years), with divergence estimates of Arachnida and Hexapoda denoted by red triangles. Note that tips are not collapsed to the same phylogenetic resolutions. Red branches indicate blood feeders: Ixodida (ticks), Triatominae (kissing bugs), Cimicidae (bed bugs), Phthiraptera (lice), Calpini (vampire moths), Siphonaptera (fleas), and the dipteran families Ceratopogonidae (biting midges), Simuliidae (black flies and sand flies), Corethrellidae (frog biting midges), Culicidae (mosquitoes), Psychodidae (moth flies), Rhagionidae (snipe flies), Athericidae (watersnipe flies), Tabanidae (horse flies and deer flies), Muscidae (house flies), and the superfamily Hippoboscoidea, with the families Glossinidae (tsetse flies), Hippoboscidae (louse flies), Streblidae (bat flies), and Nycleriidae (bat flies) placed within. Coloured circles indicate disease agents vectored by arthropods. Multiple instances of the same color circle denote multiple disease agents in the same group. Phylogenetic relationships and molecular clock calibrations were adjusted according to the literature (Fontaine et al., 2011; Hwang and Weirauch, 2012; Johnson et al., 2018; Kawahara et al., 2019; Mans, 2011; Mans et al., 2013; Narayanan Kutty et al., 2018; Song et al., 2012; Van Dam et al., 2019; Wiegmann et al., 2011; Zheng et al., 2022).

vector-disease patterns caused by anthropogenic change (Carlson et al., 2023). Vector ecology has been one of the main research focuses of vector control for decades (Wilson et al., 2020), and while we have gained an appreciation for the main drivers governing global disease patterns (Doherty et al., 2021), there are still wide knowledge gaps in many systems. Thus, we are far from having a complete picture of vector-disease diversity (Swei et al., 2020). One of the prominent research efforts in vector ecology is to elucidate how vectors seek and feed on hosts, which is driven by sensory information integrated from external cues (vision, olfaction, taste, etc.) and internal states like hunger (Ignell et al., 2022) (Fig. 2). Within the past decade, advances in gene editing technologies, for example, CRISPR-Cas9, have rapidly expanded our capacity to test for the function of practically any gene (Wang and Doudna, 2023), including sensory receptors in vectors (Kistler et al., 2015) and pathogenicity of vector-borne diseases (Puschnik et al., 2017). Because of their importance to human health, most of these studies have focused on genetically modifying disease-vectoring mosquito species from the Aedes and Anopheles genera (Konopka et al., 2023). These technologies have allowed us to pinpoint fundamental aspects of sensory or neural pathways that modulate vector host seeking and host feeding behaviours (Raji et al., 2019; Ye et al., 2022).



Fig. 2 Cues or stimuli driving host seeking and host feeding in vectors (pictured here, an Anopheles mosquito). Host seeking cues can vary from long-range infrared radiation to short-range heat and humidity signals emitted by a host (pictured here, a human). Host feeding cues include taste and touch (mechanosensation), and the internal mechanosensory cues that occur during a blood meal like abdominal distension (proprioception). Disease transmission can only happen during host feeding, when fluids are exchanged between the vector and the host (pictured here, the malaria parasite *Plasmodium* entering the host blood stream via mosquito saliva). Note that the combination of cues used to locate and feed on hosts can vary between vector species, and some cues may not be used at all.

1.2 Host manipulation in vectors

We now know that infected vectors can behave differently than their uninfected conspecifics, and several controlled observational studies and experimental studies have shown changes in host seeking or host feeding that increase the transmission of disease agents (Ignell et al., 2022; Javed et al., 2021; Stanczyk et al., 2017). These behavioural changes typically occur when the parasite reaches a particular developmental stage, suggesting potential adaptive host manipulation (Poulin, 1995; Vantaux et al., 2021). For example, mosquitoes (Culicidae; vectors of malaria, dengue fever, yellow fever, etc.) infected with Plasmodium sporozoites (infective stage) can take longer to probe during blood feeding, increasing the odds of transmission (Cornet et al., 2019). Ticks (Ixodida; vectors of Lyme disease, **babesiosis**, etc.) appear more capable of finding hosts when infected with Borrelia burgdorferi, the main bacterium that causes Lyme disease (Faulde and Robbins, 2008). Kissing bugs (Triatominae; vectors of Chagas disease) infected with the protist Trypanosoma cruzi (cause of Chagas disease) take less time to locate potential hosts and bite more frequently than uninfected controls (Botto-Mahan et al., 2006) (Fig. 3). Many more examples have been compiled in recent reviews (Ignell et al., 2022; Javed et al., 2021), and the behavioural changes that occur in vectors often appear to favour parasite transmission. As in other host-parasite systems (Poulin and Maure, 2015), most cases of host manipulation remain descriptive in nature, using natural infections and excluding any real test of mechanism. Another hurdle is distinguishing between adaptive manipulation and fortuitous side effects of infection, which is one of the greatest challenges in host manipulation research (Bhattarai et al., 2021; Poulin, 2010). Host immune reactions can mediate behaviours that just happen to favour parasites. For example, heat-killed bacteria and malarial-causing Plasmodium yoelii promote similar neurophysiological responses that increase protist transmission in Anopheles mosquitoes, putting into question the actual extent of host manipulation as opposed to isolated immune responses (Cator et al., 2013); other such examples exist in closely related hostparasite systems (Stanczyk et al., 2019). Although still an open question, the evidence accumulated to date suggests that some vector-borne diseases modulate vector behaviours to increase transmission, and here we offer likely pathways through which parasites can accomplish this.

Although vector behaviours are nearly always considered in epidemiological modelling (Cator et al., 2020), parasite-induced modification of

ARTICLE IN PRESS



Fig. 3 Hypothetical mechanisms of host manipulation of the kissing bug *Rhodnius prolixus* by *Trypanosoma cruzi* (protist that causes Chagas disease). Kissing bugs detect infrared radiation emitted by mammals through TRPV channels (receptors) located on the dendrite (typically housed within sensilla in arthropods) in the antennae (Zermoglio et al., 2015). The transmissible stage of *T. cruzi* (metacyclic trypomastigotes) could increase the number of receptors through transcriptional regulation on the *Rprolav* gene, by means of small non-coding RNAs such as microRNAs or proteins that mimic transcription factors (protein mimicry). The parasite could also secrete molecules that mimic downstream neuronal activities governed by fast-acting neurotransmitters or slow-acting neuromodulators. One or multiple changes described here could increase the sensitivity of kissing bugs to infrared radiation or increase their general movement towards the source (here, a human), increasing the odds of parasite transmission. Created with BioRender.com.

vector traits are rarely included (Ignell et al., 2022). If these disease agents are indeed adapted to change vector phenotype to their advantage, it must somehow be manifest in the biology of the vector. While our understanding of vector sensory mechanisms has increased considerably within the past two decades (Baik and Carlson, 2020; Martin et al., 2011), we still

have little to no inkling as to how vector-borne diseases could modulate the behaviours of vectors (Ignell et al., 2022; Javed et al., 2021). This discrepancy highlights a critical knowledge gap in the ecology and evolution of vector-parasite interactions. Here, we review the latest scientific developments on vector sensory mechanisms across the known diversity of human and non-human disease vector systems (Fig. 1). Specifically, we discuss recent research on the mechanisms underpinning vector behaviours that may be modulated to increase disease transmission. We focus on the environmental cues that guide vectors to a potential host and the proximate cues that encourage a blood meal, when the odds of disease transmission are highest. Albeit rare, we also include any research that specifically tests for mechanisms underlying parasite-induced physiological states in the vector that might promote the spread of disease. Finally, we tie all this information together to propose key pathways that parasites may be adapted to exploit (see Fig. 3 for an example) and suggest future research directions to address these current important gaps in knowledge.

2. Host seeking versus host feeding

Disease transmission occurs when fluid is exchanged between a vector and its host (Shaw and Catteruccia, 2019), like when vector saliva containing infective stages of a disease agent enters the host blood stream (Fig. 2). To highlight this decisive moment in the life cycle of vectored parasites, we hereby distinguish between environmental signals and mechanisms that allow vectors to locate a host (host seeking) and proximate signals and mechanisms involved in probing, biting, or blood uptake by vectors (host feeding). The mechanisms reviewed here generally comprise entire **sensory systems** (receptor neurons, ganglia, and the brain) within arthropods and the molecules that control their activities (receptors, neurotransmitters, and neuromodulators) (Smarandache-Wellmann, 2016; Whitington and Mayer, 2011) (Fig. 3). Unless otherwise specified, "vectors" include infected and uninfected individuals in the arthropod taxa highlighted by icons in Fig. 1 (although we note that other blood-feeding taxa may also vector diseases yet undiscovered).

2.1 Host seeking mechanisms

Vectors are already highly specialised to locate and feed upon hosts (Ribeiro, 1995), owing to the fact that host blood is typically necessary for females to produce eggs. They have a multitude of receptors (Box 1)

Box 1 Sensory receptor gene families in arthropods.

There are many gene families in arthropod genomes that encode proteins or protein subunits mediating sensory transduction (Table 1). These are often multigene families with high rates of duplication, deletion, and sequence mutability across evolutionary time, allowing species with diverse ecological niches and life histories to sense the cues most important for them.

Gene family	Sensory modality	
Gustatory receptors (GRs)	Olfaction, taste	
Ionotropic receptors (IRs)	Taste, olfaction, heat and humidity sensation	
Odorant receptors (ORs)	Olfaction	
Opsins	Vision	
Pickpocket (PPK) channels	Taste, mechanosensation	
Transient receptor potential (TRP) channels	Taste, mechanosensation, heat and humidity sensation	

 Table 1 (Box 1). Main gene receptor families in arthropod vectors with their sensory modalities.

Gustatory receptors (GRs) are presumptive ligand-gated ion channels with uncertain stoichiometry. Despite the name, some GRs have also been implicated in the sensation of volatile cues, most notably carbon dioxide.

lonotropic receptors (IRs) are variant ionotropic glutamate receptors, forming a family of ion channels that sense volatile olfactory cues, contact chemical cues, humidity, heat, as well as others. They appear to have evolved as sensory receptors in early protostomes, and many arthropod genomes contain hundreds of IR subunits. They are thought to be heteromeric proteins made up of subunits which can include broadly expressed co-receptors such as Ir8a, Ir25a, and Ir76b.

Odorant receptors (ORs) are heterotetrameric ligand-gated ion channels that are made up of a co-receptor subunit, Orco, and a ligand-specific ORx subunit. Upon ligand binding, the conformation of the channel shifts to allow ion flow.

Opsins are G-protein coupled receptors that are bound to light-absorbing chromophores. Distinct opsin and chromophore complexes are tuned to be maximally sensitive to specific wavelengths of light.

Pickpocket (PPK) channels are amiloride-sensitive degenerin epithelial sodium channels (DEG/eNaCs). In insects, they have been implicated as pheromone detectors (taste), as well as sensors of salt, osmotic pressure, and mechanical forces.

Transient Receptor Potential (TRP) channels are evolutionarily conserved cation channels that have been implicated in taste, heat and humidity, and mechanical sensation.

expressed in sensory neurons (Fig. 3), allowing them to detect and respond to diverse cues, including host visual cues and odours, carbon dioxide (CO_2), heat, sound, and moisture (van Breugel et al., 2015), which are critical to finding hosts and thus disease transmission. These cues are often perceived by vectors at various distances relative to a potential host; these distances can vary greatly between vector species (Fig. 2). To predict how parasites potentially manipulate vector host seeking, it is first necessary to have a solid understanding of the complex sensory systems involved.

2.2 Seeing

Vision is crucial for many vectors to navigate and locate potential hosts, therefore a direct parasite-induced alteration of visual acuity or preference could increase the odds of finding a host. At its most basic level, light can influence the overall activity of vectors by impacting **circadian rhythms** (Helfrich-Förster, 2020). Light sensing is especially important for vectors that concentrate host seeking efforts around specific times of day, for example, **crepuscular** species of mosquito. Common visual structures across all arthropods include **compound eyes** or **ocelli**, which possess photoreceptors that detect light (Bitsch and Bitsch, 2005). These receptors contain proteins, called opsins (Box 1), tuned to undergo **conformational changes** in response to specific wavelengths of light, thereby defining their visual spectrum (Barrozo et al., 2017; van der Kooi et al., 2021).

Light contrast is a primary stimulus for identifying host targets and is even seen in arthropods with relatively underdeveloped visual systems such as ticks (Leonovich, 2015). Negative **phototaxis** can occur when ticks detect shadows moving across their visual field, leading to a change in orientation towards that object or potential host (Leonovich, 2015). Generic visual identification of host targets is also seen in frog-biting midges (Corethrellidae; vectors of *Trypanosoma*), which can discern the outline of frogs to hone in on their location at closer ranges (da Silva and Breviglieri, 2021).

In more complex systems, individual photoreceptor classes can respond to different properties of light (wavelength, polarisation, etc.). The compound eyes in horse flies (Tabanidae; vectors of equine infectious anemia) are specialised to recognise different orientations of polarised light to distinguish hosts from background shades (Horváth et al., 2017). Depending on the different classes of photoreceptors (contained within "pale" or "yellow" ommatidia), this tuning either is or is not sensitive to polarisation (Meglič et al., 2019). Within the compound eyes of the Aedes aegypti mosquito, two highly related opsins (Op1 and Op2) were found, through targeted gene knockouts, to be integral to visual host attraction (Zhan et al., 2021). Mosquitoes can integrate visual information in tandem with other environmental cues such as heat and odour (Carnaghi et al., 2021; van Breugel et al., 2015). For instance, high-contrast visual and heat cues can be attractive to Ae. aegypti, but landing and aggregation only occur in the presence of CO₂ (Liu and Vosshall, 2019). For other vectors, however, vision may play little to no role in host seeking. In kissing bugs, there has been no evidence found so far that vision is an important factor when searching out hosts; they appear fully capable of locating hosts in the dark (Lazzari, 2021).

Little evidence exists on the modulation of vector visual systems by disease agents. For instance, the biting midge *Culicoides sonorensis* (Ceratopogonidae; vectors of **bluetongue disease**) appears to display aversion to the ultraviolet light emitted by traps when infected with Bluetongue virus, which were revealed to aggregate at very high levels in the ommatidia of infected midges (McDermott et al., 2015). Given the importance of light contrast for host seeking, perhaps a parasite-induced increase in sensitivity to contrast could mean a greater attraction to potential hosts. Any damage to the eyes or photoreceptors that decreases the ability of a vector to see contrast would likely not be advantageous to the parasite. Considering the universal nature of opsins within the animal kingdom (Terakita, 2005), any change in their numbers or sensitivity within the eyes of vectors may contribute to altering host seeking behaviours.

2.3 Hearing

True hearing, that is the conversion of sound-induced vibrations into electrical signals (a type of mechanosensation), evolved independently across several groups of insects and involves modified chordotonal organs (a type of stretch receptor) (Göpfert and Hennig, 2016). If infected vectors were more sensitive to frequencies emitted by their hosts, this would increase their ability to locate hosts from sound alone. These sensory organs have been well studied in vectors such as mosquitoes. In dipterans, they are called the Johnston's organ and are found in the second antennal segment. They have an operational range of millimetres to metres and have been shown to respond to sound from up to 10 m away (Menda et al., 2019).

Growing evidence suggests that mosquitoes also use auditory cues to locate hosts (Steele and McDermott, 2022). It has been shown that male mosquitoes can use short-range auditory signals (based on the frequency of female flight tones) when searching for mates (Cator et al., 2009; Simões et al., 2016). Moreover, the range of frequencies within which mosquitoes hear can coincide almost perfectly with sound frequencies emitted by their host, suggesting a role for hearing in host seeking (Menda et al., 2019). In An. gambiae and Ae. aegypti mosquitoes, octopamine acts as an auditory modulator involved in the mechanical responses to sounds (Xu et al., 2022; Georgiades et al., 2023). Frog-biting midges are known to use host acoustic cues to locate anuran hosts by detecting their mating calls (de Silva et al., 2015). In ticks, which lack chordotonal organs, there is no evidence to suggest that they use auditory cues to seek hosts, although they may rely on mechanical vibrations during questing (Leal et al., 2020). Though studies are currently lacking, if parasites were adapted to modify hearing in vectors (in this case, dipterans such as midges and mosquitoes) to increase transmission, the underlying mechanisms would most likely implicate the stretch receptors located in the Johnston's organ.

2.4 Smelling

Much of what we know about olfaction in disease vectors comes from the large body of literature on mosquitoes. Olfaction is often considered a dominant cue for host seeking (Sumner and Cardé, 2022), since odours move by air convection and can thus travel much further away from the host (Sehdev et al., 2019). Because of their importance in host seeking, infected vectors may be more sensitive or attuned to certain olfactory cues produced by hosts. Olfactory cues include CO_2 and various **volatiles** emitted by a host (Fig. 2) that are detected by olfactory receptors expressed in olfactory sensory neurons (OSNs). These OSNs are housed in **sensilla** typically located on the antennae or other specialised sensory organs. The number and expression of these receptors can vary widely between species (Carey and Carlson, 2011). Vectors share both the ionotropic receptor (IR) and gustatory receptor (GR) families for olfaction (Vizueta Moraga et al., 2018), while the odorant

receptor (OR) family and the OR **co-receptor** (Orco) evolved shortly before the advent of terrestrial insects and are not found in non-insect vectors such as ticks (Brand et al., 2018) (Box 1). The ORs can play important roles in host preference through odour detection and integration of multiple sensory information, including host seeking and blood feeding (Jung et al., 2015; Ni et al., 2022). Receptors in this family also modulate repellency to synthetic compounds such as DEET (Xu et al., 2014).

In mosquitoes, CO_2 is the first olfactory cue that activates or primes sensory receptors and promotes positive chemotaxis in the direction of the host or a general increase in arousal (Sorrells et al., 2022). Depending on the species, the type of receptors can vary, but generally only three are known to be involved. For instance, GR1, GR2, and GR3 are found in Ae. aegypti and Culex spp., whereas the orthologs GR22, GR23, and GR24 are found in Anopheles spp. It has been shown, especially in An. coluzzii, that two of the receptors are necessary for CO₂ detection, while the third acts as a modulator (Liu et al., 2020). CO₂, as a by-product of aerobic respiration, is also an attractant in many other vectors including kissing bugs, tsetse flies, black flies, sand flies, ticks, and fleas (Indacochea et al., 2017; Jones, 2013), although the receptor(s) involved in its detection are generally unknown outside of well-studied mosquito taxa. However, CO2 is not known to attract and may even repel vectors such as frog-biting midges, which feed on anurans with low metabolisms and are likely more dependent on acoustic and visual cues for host seeking (see previous sections). Similarly, the nature of attractive volatiles detected by IRs can depend on the type of host that vectors co-evolve with (Raji et al., 2019; Ye et al., 2022). For example, 1-octen-3-ol, an alcohol emitted by mammals, attracts An. gambiae and Ae. aegypti mosquitoes (primarily feed on mammalian hosts), but repels Cx. quinquefasciatus (primarily feeds on avian hosts) (Wolff and Riffell, 2018). In humans, Ae. aegypti mosquitoes react to specific volatiles such as carboxylic acids (via IRs) and aldehydes (via ORs) (De Obaldia et al., 2022; Zhao et al., 2022); differences in the amounts or the relative ratios of these cues can increase or decrease the attractiveness of a human host (De Obaldia et al., 2022; Giraldo et al., 2023), signalling a potential target mechanism for disease agents to exploit.

While the limited evidence that exists suggests that disease agents increase host seeking by modulating the attractiveness of host volatiles in vectors (Javed et al., 2021; Stanczyk et al., 2017; Vantaux et al., 2021), no study to our knowledge has identified any specific mechanism responsible for this increase in attractiveness. Disease agents may indirectly increase

attractiveness to hosts in vectors by altering the relative mixture of volatiles emitted by hosts (Díez-Fernández et al., 2020; Robinson et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2022). In humans infected with *Plasmodium*, certain aldehydes were found to be produced in greater quantities than in uninfected individuals, which were detectable by *Anopheles* mosquitoes, effectively increasing the attractiveness of infected human skin odours in this vector (Robinson et al., 2018). Thus, depending on the vector and the importance of volatiles for host seeking, for example, high importance in mosquitoes, any change in the number, tuning, or sensitivity of receptors expressed in peripheral olfactory tissues could alter these behaviours.

2.5 Sensing temperature and humidity

Olfactory cues may guide vectors over longer ranges, but temperature and humidity gradients can alert vectors to a nearby host (Laursen et al., 2023; Zermoglio et al., 2017). Parasite-induced changes to these systems could therefore increase the ability of a vector to home in on its host at closer ranges. Among the three families of receptors (Box 1), the IRs have been found to be more ancestral than the GRs and ORs, and their functions are conserved across many taxa (Benton et al., 2009; Croset et al., 2010; Rytz et al., 2013). Consequently, they carry out a wide range of functions in addition to chemosensation (Box 1), including the detection of heat (thermosensation) and humidity (hygrosensation) (Benton et al., 2009; Enjin et al., 2016; Greppi et al., 2020; van Giesen and Garrity, 2017). Certain deeply conserved IRs are responsible for sensing humidity across most insect species, including mosquitoes (Enjin et al., 2016; Knecht et al., 2016). Because of the apparent dual role of some IRs, hygrosensation and thermosensation seem to function closely in parallel. Pioneering studies in Drosophila have shown that IR21a and IR25a mediate thermal preferences and hygrosensation (Budelli et al., 2019; Knecht et al., 2017; Ni et al., 2016). Several IRs, such as IR21a and IR93a, have been proven to be crucial for thermosensing in mosquitoes (Greppi et al., 2020). IR93a can also act has a humidity sensor and was shown to be necessary in maintaining attraction to human hosts and promoting consumption of warmed blood (Laursen et al., 2023); several IRs were found to have conserved thermosensory and hygrosensory functions in the sacculus of Drosophila melanogaster, although their exact function(s) depends on the combination of receptors involved (Knecht et al., 2016; Ni, 2021). In addition to the IR family, the TRP cation channel A1, or TRPA1, protein has been associated with thermosensation and host seeking in An. stephensi (Maekawa et al., 2011) and in controlling

avoidance of noxious temperatures in *Ae. aegypti* (Corfas and Vosshall, 2015). TRPs are highly conserved in animals and likely contribute to many sensory modalities (Fowler and Montell, 2013) (Box 1).

In other vectors such as kissing bugs and ticks, heat dispersed by hosts can also be used as a cue for host seeking (Ignell et al., 2022), and orthologs to the IRs mentioned above likely play a key role. For instance, kissing bugs use heat and humidity to locate hiding places and seek hosts, and the TRP channels *nanchung* and *waterwitch* likely mediate these behaviours (Latorre-Estivalis and Lorenzo, 2019). Heat cues can work in tandem with other cues to elicit host seeking in vectors. To illustrate, if CO₂ primes *Ae. aegypti* mosquitoes to seek hosts, the addition of proximal host heat cues will then initiate probing behaviours (Sorrells et al., 2022). IR21a, a cooling-activated receptor that mediates heat-avoidance in *Drosophila* (Ni et al., 2016), was found to drive heat seeking in *An. gambiae* (Greppi et al., 2020). Because of the ancestral nature of IRs (Croset et al., 2010), it is likely that this receptor was repurposed for host seeking in this vector, suggesting again that sensory circuits expressing members of this large gene family could be a prime target for manipulation by disease agents.

2.6 Infrared sensing

In addition to sensing temperature gradients as vectors approach very close by to potential hosts, some vectors have sensory organs that are sensitive to infrared radiation, enabling a longer-range mechanism for detecting heat in the environment that could be subjected to host manipulation. Unlike wavelengths in the visual spectrum, infrared radiation is not known to be detected by opsins in the visual system (Guignard et al., 2022). Temperature gradients caused by host-emitted heat are typically detectable within a few centimetres (Laursen et al., 2023), whereas host-emitted infrared gradients are in theory detectable for ranges of several centimetres up to several hundred metres (Catala, 2011) (Fig. 2). Ticks and kissing bugs are equipped with specialised sensory organs, for example, Haller's organ in ticks, to detect infrared radiation using the highly conserved TRP receptors (Barrozo et al., 2017) (Fig. 3). Multiple tick species utilise infrared-sensitive receptors on their tarsi and have demonstrated varying behavioural responses to infrared cues based on feeding state (Mitchell et al., 2017). While mosquitoes are not yet known to detect infrared wavelengths (Zermoglio et al., 2017), its use as a cue by other host-seeking arthropods begs the question of whether future work will find that infrared detection is indeed a component of the mosquito multisensory host seeking toolkit, and as such, a potential avenue of exploitation by disease agents.

2.7 Host feeding mechanisms

Once vectors effectively locate a suitable host through host seeking, they must then rely on proximate host cues for probing, biting, and blood feeding, all three of which are grouped under host feeding mechanisms. Like for host seeking, various sensory systems are involved in host feeding. Taste and mechanosensation underpin important host feeding behaviours such as the time spent probing and the length of blood meals (Ignell et al., 2022; Javed et al., 2021). Since disease transmission occurs during host feeding, there is indeed great potential for parasites to have adapted traits that increase host feeding behaviours to maximise transmission.

2.8 Tasting

In vectors, gustation or taste plays a critical role in host feeding (Ortega-Insaurralde and Barrozo, 2022). The behavioural response to taste cues governs the final decision about whether to feed or not, therefore any parasite-driven modulation of this system could determine if transmission is at all possible. Insect vectors have taste organs distributed throughout the body, including the margins of wings, the tarsi on the legs, and various mouthparts (King and Gunathunga, 2023). The stylet is usually responsible for piercing or cutting the skin and drawing blood in hematophagous insects (ticks use highly modified chelicerae and a barbed hypostome to cut through skin) (Krenn and Aspöck, 2012). Taste receptors, comprised primarily of GRs and IRs (Box 1), are expressed in gustatory receptor neurons housed in the gustatory organs with dendrites extending into hair-like sensilla. It is through these dendrites that the cells will make physical contact with a taste cue. Different tastes will elicit different responses in neurons depending on the receptors expressed on that cell. For example, in mosquitoes, taste can be used to sense cues both external (e.g., sweat) and internal (e.g., blood) during blood feeding. Taste is also used for nonblood-feeding behaviours, such as nectar ingestion by both male and female mosquitoes. Overall, taste allows the detection of both nutritive and toxic compounds; sugar and low salt are attractive while bitter compounds and high concentrations of salts elicit aversive responses (Baik and Carlson, 2020). A mixture of key plasma components such as adenosine triphosphate (ATP), sodium chloride (NaCl), and sodium bicarbonate (NaHCO₃) are crucial stimulants that trigger blood feeding. In Ae. aegypti mosquitoes, neurons in the stylet are the first to detect blood after a bite (Jové et al., 2020). Similarly, taste is known to modulate the feeding behaviours of other arthropod vectors such as kissing bugs and ticks (Pontes et al., 2022; Soares et al., 2013).

When it comes to the perception of distinct taste cues found in blood, IR7a and IR7f have been identified as key receptors in the stylet of *Ae. aegypti* mosquitoes (Jové et al., 2020). Another study conducted in *An. coluzzii* mosquitoes confirmed that targeted gene knockout of IR76b, a broadly expressed IR co-receptor found in the neurons of the stylet, showed a robust reduction in blood feeding, pointing to a key mechanism underpinning this important behaviour (Ye et al., 2022). Thus, there are multiple plausible impacts on taste that could yield increases in disease transmission, for example, a downregulation of responses to bitter or other aversive cues or an increase in sensitivity to appetitive feeding cues could each hypothetically increase the rates of biting and feeding.

2.9 Mechanosensation

Mechanosensation involves the detection of physical forces on and within the body and is involved in senses such as hearing (see above), nociception (detection of painful forces), proprioception (sense of the body in space), and touch. The detection of these forces is carried out by a broad diversity of receptors that detect changes in membrane stretch and direct physical forces on the receptor (Box 1).

For arthropod vectors, mechanosensory cues may be important to initiate feeding. In D. melanogaster, channel like receptor 1 (TMC1) and the TRP channel, no mechanoreceptor potential C are necessary for evaluating the texture of foods (Sánchez-Alcañiz et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2016; Zhou et al., 2019). These texture cues synergise with volatile and taste cues to mediate food acceptance or rejection (Oh et al., 2021). Here, a parasite may alter the degree to which a vector senses food texture, which can lead to an increase in probing or feeding time. In Ae. aegypti mosquitoes, a pair of mechanosensory campaniform sensilla are found near the tip of the labrum and mediate blood feeding (Jové et al., 2020; Jung et al., 2015). The mechanosensory cues from these sensilla are likely combined with volatile cues to enable the mosquito to find and ingest host blood (Jung et al., 2015). Additionally, during probing, the labrum-interacting protein of the saliva 2 secreted in the saliva of Aedes mosquitoes binds to labrum cuticular proteins, resulting in a morphological change that is most likely sensed by proprioceptive receptors (Arnoldi et al., 2022). In this study, experimental knockdown of this protein resulted in mosquitoes taking longer to feed to engorgement and spending more time probing the skin, suggesting an important role of these proteins in blood feeding.

Mechanosensation is also an important cue in controlling food intake once feeding has begun. In D. melanogaster, the mechanoreceptor Piezo (from Greek, meaning "pressure") detects gut distension and controls food intake (Eun Kim et al., 2012; Min et al., 2021). During feeding, activation of Piezo as the abdomen distends reduces appetite and food intake. Experimental knockout of this gene can result in gut bloating and increased food consumption. Likewise, in Ae. aegypti abdominal distension is proposed to act as the first mechanism to terminate feeding and suppress host seeking behaviour following engorgement from a blood meal, though the receptor mechanism is yet unknown (Klowden and Lea, 1979). Following this initial cue, further host seeking suppression is, in part, mediated by neuropeptide signalling detected by the NPY-like receptor 7 (NPYLR7) in the brain (Duvall et al., 2019). This signalling is triggered by the secretion of insulin-like peptides from the fat body during digestion of a blood meal. To increase the length of a blood meal and maximise disease transmission, these recently discovered mechanosensory mechanisms may be the target of parasite-induced alterations.

3. Vector sensory systems and manipulation by disease agents

The recent literature reviewed here strongly supports the idea that vector sensory systems are indeed multimodal or redundant (Fig. 4). When a vector senses its environment, each sensory system can respond to various cues (Fig. 2), and the right combination of cues triggers a synergistic response that drives host seeking and host feeding. The research on multimodal sensation in vectors has been largely conducted on mosquitoes (Carnaghi et al., 2021; Greppi et al., 2020; Laursen et al., 2023; Liu and Vosshall, 2019; McMeniman et al., 2014, Sorrells et al., 2022) (Fig. 4), however this is most likely a universal feature across vectors (Fig. 1), for example, frog-biting midges (da Silva and Breviglieri, 2021; de Silva et al., 2015), kissing bugs (Barrozo et al., 2017; Indacochea et al., 2017), and ticks (Leal et al., 2020; Leonovich, 2015).

Blood-feeding vectors (Fig. 1) have evolved highly specialised traits to seek and feed on hosts, and they are effectively stuck in the middle of an evolutionary arms race between the parasites they carry and the hosts that provide them with nutrients crucial to their reproductive success.



Fig. 4 Multimodal nature of sensory systems that are important for host seeking and host feeding in vectors, depicted here with the *Aedes aegypti* mosquito. The main cues are listed under each organ. These systems can integrate signals from a number of receptors (Box 1) that react to multiple cues, highlighting the redundancy of sensory mechanisms in vectors. Sensory organs and cues for *Ae. aegypti* are based on the recent literature (Jung et al., 2015; Matthews et al., 2016; van Breugel et al., 2015). Created with BioRender.com.

Consequently, vector-borne disease transmission may indeed promote the evolution of parasite-induced behavioural states favouring transmission (de Angeli Dutra et al., 2022). Highly conserved vector genes governing these behavioural states, for example, IRs, TRPs, and opsins (Croset et al., 2010; Fowler and Montell, 2013; Terakita, 2005), can be implicated in sensing multiple cues (Box 1); they also predate the evolution of vectorborne diseases such as malaria (Evans and Wellems, 2002). Parasites may have therefore evolved to exploit these already existing sensory systems to perhaps increase the sensitivity of vectors toward host cues, increase general vector activity, or decrease the responsiveness of vectors during a blood meal. Because of the highly conserved nature of vector genes involved in host seeking and host feeding, there may be convergence in the mechanisms used by distantly related groups of parasites to manipulate vector behaviour. Here, we highlight key sensory mechanisms involved in vector host seeking and host feeding and propose how parasites may adaptively manipulate these behaviours.

3.1 Candidate vector sensory mechanisms subject to manipulation

The TRP receptor family represents a generalised mechanism through which vectors can detect potential hosts (Barrozo et al., 2017; Fowler and Montell, 2013; Latorre-Estivalis and Lorenzo, 2019; Maekawa et al., 2011). The highly conserved nature of these sensory receptors and the existing mechanisms for its regulation (Mitchell et al., 2017; Rispe et al., 2022) make them a reasonable target for parasites. Because olfaction plays such an important role for many vectors, namely mosquitoes (Sumner and Cardé, 2022), IRs, GRs, and ORs are also prime targets. Malaria-infected An. gambiae mosquitoes, harbouring transmissible sporozoites, showed general transcript upregulation in IRs, GRs, ORs, and TRPs, potentially increasing sensitivity to host olfactory cues and other synergistically operating sensory mechanisms (Carr et al., 2021). Indeed, because of the importance of IRs and TRPs across key sensory systems used by vectors to seek and feed on hosts (Box 1), these should be considered as prime suspects when it comes to vector manipulation. This does not undermine the importance of other receptor families (GRs, ORs, opsins, and PPK channels) (Matthews et al., 2016; Ni et al., 2022), because they likely play important roles in the multimodal responses (Fig. 4) that are required in a signal-rich environment (Fig. 2). The evolutionary ecology of the vector must be understood to determine the relative importance of each sensory system. For example, frog-biting midges that use host mating calls and vision to locate anuran hosts (da Silva and Breviglieri, 2021; de Silva et al., 2015) most likely rely more heavily on opsins, PPKs channels, and TRPs, whereas kissing bugs and ticks may rely mostly on TRPs for long-distance infrared sensing (Barrozo et al., 2017; Mitchell et al., 2017).

Because host seeking and blood feeding are suppressed after a blood meal (Klowden and Lea, 1979), receptors and signalling molecules that are differentially regulated pre- and post-feeding constitute potential candidates for vector manipulation. In *Ae. aegypti* mosquitoes, stretch receptors (mechanosensation) in the gut detect abdominal distention in the short term and long-term feeding suppression is mediated through neuropeptide signaling (Duvall et al., 2019; Klowden and Lea, 1979), which could be targeted by disease agents to modify the length of a blood meal or the tendency of a vector to seek hosts and feed again – both of which could increase likelihood of transmission. Perhaps the most fundamental determinant of general sensory activity are the daily biological rhythms attuned to sunlight, i.e., the circadian clock (Helfrich-Förster, 2020). This light-dependent cycle is tightly linked to photoreceptors and opsins located

ARTICLE IN PRESS

in the eyes, therefore any targeted damage or alteration to this primary sense system could have profound impacts on overall vector activities and disease transmission. Ticks infected with the *Rickettsia* bacterium showed increased expression of genes modulating the circadian rhythm, which correlated with an increase in blood feeding, engorgement weight, and hastened feeding (Khanal et al., 2022). Indeed, there is growing concern that anthropogenic light sources may already be changing vector-borne disease dynamics (Coetzee et al., 2022) and the evolution of host-parasite interactions (Poulin, 2023).

Parasite-induced up- and downregulation of host genes are most likely behind the behavioural changes observed in infected vectors. Increasing the number of receptor proteins (Box 1) expressed in receptor neurons can increase the sensitivity toward specific cues that already elicit a strong attraction in vectors (see Carr et al., 2021), for example, alcohols, aldehydes, and carboxylic acids emitted by humans that are highly attractive to mosquitoes (De Obaldia et al., 2022; Wolff and Riffell, 2018; Zhao et al., 2022). In addition, changes in gene expression that regulate neuronal excitability could also render specific sensory neurons more or less sensitive reporters of the cues that they sense. Such changes could impact multiple sensory pathways simultaneously, increasing general attractiveness in hosts during host seeking. Moreover, parasite-driven alterations on the downstream biochemical pathways in sensory systems could effectively modify the amount of time that vectors spend performing specific behaviours. These could include direct up- or downregulation of fast-acting neurotransmitters, or indirect changes through the longer-lasting actions of neuromodulators, i.e., molecules including neuropeptides and hormones that regulate neurotransmitter activities. For instance, neuropeptide signalling has been shown to regulate blood feeding in Ae. aegypti mosquitoes (Duvall et al., 2019; Klowden and Lea, 1979), thereby changing the length of blood meals. Hormones such as dopamine and serotonin (both are also neurotransmitters) can affect host seeking in mosquitoes and increase the frequency of blood meals when transmissible stages of a disease agent (La Crosse virus or P. yoelii) are present, thus increasing the odds of disease transmission (Briggs et al., 2022; Yang et al., 2019). Though, how disease agents induce these changes in vector phenotype remains very much an open question.

3.2 Proximate mechanisms of vector manipulation

The crux of host manipulation research has been to identify the genes and gene products (manipulation factors) originating from the parasite that

induce the cascade of behavioural and morphological changes documented across many host-parasite systems (Poulin and Maure, 2015) (Fig. 3). Convincing evidence connecting a parasite gene(s) to host phenotypic change has been elusive (Hoover et al., 2011), even though we now have the tools (transcriptomics, proteomics, gene editing, etc.) to explore molecular candidates (Doherty and Matthews, 2022). For vector-borne disease ecology, even though a lot of work has been done to describe behavioural change (Javed et al., 2021), we have just begun to look at baseline differences between infected and uninfected vectors (Carr et al., 2021). The manipulation factors expressed by a parasite or disease agent could impact any number of systems, including gene expression, neuromodulation, and immunomodulation (Doherty and Matthews, 2022; Herbison, 2017). Recently, small non-coding RNAs secreted by parasites have been highlighted as candidate modulators in vector-disease interactions, with the potential to up- or downregulate important sensory pathways involved in vector host seeking and host feeding (Bensaoud et al., 2019). However, parasites may also directly secrete proteins that mimic important regulatory or sensory functions in hosts (Berger et al., 2021).

3.3 Interactions with vector microbiomes

Microbiomes, i.e., the microbial communities of bacteria, viruses, protists, and others living within an organism, can have profound impacts on the general health of vectors and vertebrate hosts, directly affecting their ability to harbour and transmit diseases (Ippolito et al., 2018; Videvall et al., 2021), and even modulating vector behaviour to some extent (Ezenwa et al., 2012). Wolbachia can mitigate viral transmission by suppressing the replication of human viruses within mosquito vectors (Johnson, 2015). Trypanosomes tend to establish and mature more successfully in young adult tsetse flies, which can be partly attributed to an immature or underdeveloped microflora within the midgut (Haines, 2013). Vector competence, or the ability of a vector to transmit a pathogen, may thus be heavily impacted by the composition of the microbiome (de Angeli Dutra et al., 2023). How these microbes affect vector manipulation by disease agents remains an open question. For instance, should there be a negative consequence to the microbiome after an infected blood meal is ingested by the arthropod, natural selection may favour an antagonistic response from those microbes present, which would play against the ability of disease agents to manipulate vectors.

4. Key questions and ways to address them

In this section, we highlight key research questions to help guide future research. We also propose some general methodologies that can be used to test them experimentally.

Question (1). What vector phenotypes are targeted by disease agents to increase their transmission between hosts, and how specific are parasite-induced phenotypic changes in altering vector sensory systems?

To test this, one would ideally be capable of experimentally infecting the arthropod vector in a laboratory to observe and quantify behavioural responses to specific cues that are emitted by hosts during host seeking. These behavioural assays could be conducted in a simple choice test with, for example, a Y-maze if testing for responses to specific odorant cues, which requires a constant, unidirectional air flow. More elaborate experiments could combine multiple cues to observe multimodal responses to various stimuli. Host feeding experiments would require a substrate that mimics the external surface of the vertebrate host to test for probing, biting, and feeding behaviours in response to various cues in isolation or combined.

Question (2). Do parasites modulate vector behaviours by increasing the sensitivity of receptor neurons through gene expression changes, or do they act downstream on biomolecular pathways involving the activity of neurotransmitters and neuromodulators, and do parasites interact with highly conserved and ancient vector genes that govern general biological activities such as the circadian rhythm?

Differences in gene expression in the parasite is highly contingent upon the development of the parasite, which likely determines when the manipulation factors are released into the vector. If there is indeed evidence of behavioural manipulation in the vector, collecting samples at multiple stages of infection or parasite development would allow researchers to test for differences in gene or protein expression by measuring total messenger RNA (transcriptomics) or individual protein counts (proteomics). This would allow us to track internal biomolecular changes and match these with quantifiable changes in behaviour, which could help determine candidate mechanisms that are differentially expressed between infected vectors and uninfected controls at key moments of parasite transmission. In addition, techniques to profile the activity of neurons, for example, electrophysiology or calcium imaging, could be used to discern whether the sensitivity of specific sets of vector sensory neurons is altered upon infection. **Question (3).** What are the proximate mechanisms or manipulation factors encoded in the parasite genome that directly or indirectly cause vectors to behave in ways that increase disease transmission?

This would require mapping gene or protein expression through transcriptomics and proteomics (see previous question) and linking these to specific genes found in the parasite genome. Therefore, sequencing the genome of the parasite is also essential. To test for the function of the candidate mechanisms involved in host manipulation, gene knockout experiments using the CRISPR-Cas9 can be used by designing guide RNA to target a specific region of the parasite genome to remove a gene or genes of interest. Researchers would need to develop a specific protocol to inject CRISPR-Cas9 components in the parasite of their model system. Once successful, they can then test for differences in host manipulation abilities between knockout parasites and controls, allowing us to test the function of the targeted knockout gene.

Question (4). How have these host-parasite interactions evolved in other disease vector systems that have not been researched or have received far less attention than the heavily studied model systems such as the fruit fly and mosquitoes?

Researchers need to increase the current breadth of host-parasite model systems to have a better appreciation of the diversity of parasite life history strategies involved in vector-borne diseases. Unfortunately, this remains one of the greatest challenges for researchers in parasitology: creating new host-parasite model systems. Many rounds of trial and error, and a lot of patience, are required to bring natural systems into the laboratory. Some systems simply do not work well in artificial conditions; therefore, we may be somewhat limited in the diversity of parasites that can be tested in an experimental context. A lot of money and effort may be required to successfully establish a working and reliable model system.

Question (5). Since blood feeding evolved independently in several arthropod vectors, have the parasites that evolved with these independent taxa adapted host-specific alterations or do they show signs of convergence due to the conserved nature of sensory systems?

The more we collect genomes of different parasites and other disease-causing agents, and the more we identify genes involved in vector behavioural manipulation, the better we can answer this question. Comparative genomics thus becomes an essential tool to test for the evolution of parasite-mediated phenotypic change. This goes without saying: we need to have a strong foundation of knowledge of candidate genes and mechanisms from several species of parasite in order to compare them and look for differences or signs of convergence.

5. Conclusions and future directions

To account for the full nature and diversity of disease vectors and their role in emerging infectious diseases worldwide, and to better prepare for the inevitable impacts of large-scale anthropogenic change, we need to address the current large gaps of knowledge in basic vector ecology. This includes changes in host seeking and host feeding behaviours of vectors carrying disease agents, which may increase disease transmission between hosts. The advent of genome engineering has allowed researchers to identify key sensory mechanisms underpinning the behavioural ecology of vectors, but many questions remain unanswered (see previous section). We still have little evidence as to if and how parasites manipulate vectors to their advantage, yet these fundamental interactions are extremely important and cannot be ignored if we wish to predict future patterns in disease ecology. By reviewing recent studies in vector sensory ecology, we have identified some key potential mechanisms that could be the target of parasite-induced phenotypic change, namely the highly conserved IR and TRP gene families of receptors. However, studies explicitly testing for mechanistic change in infected vectors are sorely lacking, even though we now have the technologies to test them. There is also only a small number of model disease vector systems used in research. We rely heavily on the fruit fly and mosquitoes to address foundational questions in physiology and molecular biology, and rightly so, but our very narrow window into the diversity of vector ecology likely limits our predictive power when it comes to modelling complex sensory landscapes and vector behaviours under various scenarios. Nevertheless, with the tools readily available to us, we can now gain important ground into the hidden interactions between disease agents and their vector hosts. This opens a whole new field of research, and we are sure to uncover fascinating co-evolutionary adaptations driving vector-borne disease transmission.

Glossary

- **Adaptive host manipulation** any parasite-induced phenotypic change of a host (typically behaviour or morphology) encoded in the parasite genome that increases parasite fitness, for example, increasing the likelihood of transmission or life cycle completion.
- **Aerobic respiration** a chemical process of converting carbohydrates into energy that consumes oxygen, producing carbon dioxide.
- **Babesiosis** a parasitic infection in red blood cells caused by members of the apicomplexan genus *Babesia*.

Bluetongue disease transmissible viral infection found mainly in ruminants.

- Chagas disease transmissible disease caused by Trypanosoma cruzi.
- **Chemotaxis** movement in response to a chemical stimulus, guided by a corresponding concentration gradient.
- **Circadian rhythm** biological processes that follow an internal 24-hour cycle; these processes respond to light and darkness patterns.
- **Compound eye** a type of visual organ found in arthropods that consists of numerous independent photoreceptors housed within distinct units called ommatidia.
- **Conformational change** a change in the shape of a protein or macromolecule, usually related to a change in function.
- **Co-receptor** a cell-surface receptor that acts in tandem with a primary receptor to elicit ligand-mediated biological responses.
- Crepuscular occurring or active during twilight periods.
- **CRISPR-Cas9** gene editing technology that cuts specific regions of DNA, allowing for the insertion or deletion of genetic material.
- **Degenerin epithelial sodium channels** a class of ion channels from the degenerin/ epithelial sodium channel gene family that are expressed in the epithelial tissues of animals.
- **Equine infectious anemia** disease caused by a transmissible viral disease that only affects equids.
- Hematophagous feeding on blood.
- Heteromeric a protein complex consisting of non-identical subunits.
- **Heterotetrameric** a protein complex consisting of four subunits, with at least one being non-identical to the others.
- **Ocellus (plural ocelli)** eye consisting of a single lens, functions as a second visual system. **Pathogenicity** the ability or extent to which an organism can cause disease.
- **Parasite** an organism that lives on or within a host organism, negatively impacting its fitness; this definition includes disease-causing agents like pathogens.
- **Phototaxis** movement in response to light, either towards (positive) or away from (negative) the source.
- **Polarisation** light with electromagnetic vibrations which oscillate in only the direction perpendicular to its source.
- **Questing** a position ticks hold while waiting for a host to pass by close enough for them to climb onto.
- Sensillum (plural sensilla) a sensory receptor consisting of a modified cuticle or epidermis cell that is typically hair- or rod-shaped.
- **Sensory system** a network of neurons and receptors that relay stimulus information to the nervous system.
- Stylet a hollow, hardened protrusion of the labella using for piercing and feeding on liquids.
- Tarsi the most distal segments of the legs used for surface contact.

Acknowledgements

This review chapter was prepared during a working retreat. We thank Alan Eriksson for feedback on an early version of the manuscript and the Editors for their constructive comments. We also thank Granville Island Brewing for their generous liquid sponsorship.

Author contributions

J-FD conceived the idea for the review in consultation with all other authors; J-FD led the writing with significant contributions to core review sections and figures from all other authors. All authors gave final approval for publication.

Financial support

LB was supported by a University of British Columbia (UBC) Four Year Doctoral Fellowship and GKN was supported by a Trek Excellence Scholarship and a Dean of Science Scholarship from UBC. BM is supported by a Michael Smith Health Research BC Scholar Award and a Sloan Foundation Research Fellowship. Work in the Matthews lab (including the lab retreat that led to this article) is funded by the Natural Sciences and Engineering Resource Council (NSERC RGPIN-2020–05423), the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR F21–03976), the Canadian Foundation for Innovation and the British Columbia Knowledge Development Fund, and startup funds from The University of British Columbia.

Resources

https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/vector-borne-diseases.

References

- Arnoldi, I., Mancini, G., Fumagalli, M., Gastaldi, D., D'Andrea, L., Bandi, C., et al., 2022. A salivary factor binds a cuticular protein and modulates biting by inducing morphological changes in the mosquito labrum. Curr. Biol. 32, 3493–3504.
- Baik, L.S., Carlson, J.R., 2020. The mosquito taste system and disease control. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 117, 32848–32856.
- Barrozo, R.B., Reisenman, C.E., Guerenstein, P., Lazzari, C.R., Lorenzo, M.G., 2017. An inside look at the sensory biology of triatomines. J. Insect Physiol. 97, 3–19.
- Bensaoud, C., Hackenberg, M., Kotsyfakis, M., 2019. Noncoding RNAs in parasite-vector-host interactions. Trends Parasitol. 35, 715–724.
- Benton, R., Vannice, K.S., Gomez-Diaz, C., Vosshall, L.B., 2009. Variant ionotropic glutamate receptors as chemosensory receptors in *Drosophila*. Cell 136, 149–162.
- Berger, C.S., Laroche, J., Maaroufi, H., Martin, H., Moon, K.-M., Landry, C.R., et al., 2021. The parasite *Schistocephalus solidus* secretes proteins with putative host manipulation functions. Parasit. Vectors 14, 436.
- Bhattarai, U.R., Doherty, J.-F., Dowle, E., Gemmell, N.J., 2021. The adaptiveness of host behavioural manipulation assessed using Tinbergen's four questions. Trends Parasitol. 37, 597–609.
- Bitsch, C., Bitsch, J., 2005. Evolution of eye structure and arthropod phylogeny. In: Koenemann, S., Jenner, R. (Eds.), Crustacea and Arthropod Relationships. CRC Press, pp. 185–214.
- Botto-Mahan, C., Cattan, P.E., Medel, R., 2006. Chagas disease parasite induces behavioural changes in the kissing bug *Mepraia spinolai*. Acta Trop. 98, 219–223.
- Brand, P., Robertson, H.M., Lin, W., Pothula, R., Klingeman, W.E., Jurat-Fuentes, J.L., et al., 2018. The origin of the odorant receptor gene family in insects. eLife 7, e38340.
- Briggs, A.M., Hambly, M.G., Simão-Gurge, R.M., Garrison, S.M., Khaku, Z., Van Susteren, G., et al., 2022. *Anopheles stephensi* feeding, flight behavior, and infection with malaria parasites are altered by ingestion of serotonin. Front. Physiol. 13, 911097.

- Budelli, G., Ni, L., Berciu, C., van Giesen, L., Knecht, Z.A., Chang, E.C., et al., 2019. Ionotropic receptors specify the morphogenesis of phasic sensors controlling rapid thermal preference in *Drosophila*. Neuron 101, 738–747.
- Carey, A.F., Carlson, J.R., 2011. Insect olfaction from model systems to disease control. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 108, 12987–12995.
- Carlson, C.J., Bannon, E., Mendenhall, E., Newfield, T., Bansal, S., 2023. Rapid range shifts in African Anopheles mosquitoes over the last century. Biol. Lett. 19, 20220365.
- Carnaghi, M., Belmain, S.R., Hopkins, R.J., Hawkes, F.M., 2021. Multimodal synergisms in host stimuli drive landing response in malaria mosquitoes. Sci. Rep-UK 11, 7379 7379.
- Carr, A.L., Rinker, D.C., Dong, Y., Dimopoulos, G., Zwiebel, L.J., 2021. Transcriptome profiles of *Anopheles gambiae* harboring natural low-level *Plasmodium* infection reveal adaptive advantages for the mosquito. Sci. Rep-UK 11, 22578.
- Catala, S.S., 2011. The infra-red (IR) landscape of *Triatoma infestans*. An hypothesis about the role of IR radiation as a cue for Triatominae dispersal. Infect. Genet. Evolut. 11, 1891–1898.
- Cator, L.J., Arthur, B.J., Harrington, L.C., Hoy, R.R., 2009. Harmonic convergence in the love songs of the dengue vector mosquito. Science 323, 1077–1079.
- Cator, L.J., George, J., Blanford, S., Murdock, C.C., Baker, T.C., Read, A.F., et al., 2013. 'Manipulation' without the parasite: altered feeding behaviour of mosquitoes is not dependent on infection with malaria parasites. Proc. R. Soc. B: Biol. Sci. 280, 20130711.
- Cator, L.J., Johnson, L.R., Mordecai, E.A., El Moustaid, F., Smallwood, T.R.C., LaDeau, S.L., et al., 2020. The role of vector trait variation in vector-borne disease dynamics. Front. Ecol. Evol. 8, 189.
- Coetzee, B.W.T., Gaston, K.J., Koekemoer, L.L., Kruger, T., Riddin, M.A., Smit, I.P.J., 2022. Artificial light as a modulator of mosquito-borne disease risk. Front. Ecol. Evol. 9, 768090.
- Corfas, R.A., Vosshall, L.B., 2015. The cation channel TRPA1 tunes mosquito thermotaxis to host temperatures. eLife 4, e11750.
- Cornet, S., Nicot, A., Rivero, A., Gandon, S., 2019. Avian malaria alters the dynamics of blood feeding in *Culex pipieus* mosquitoes. Malar. J. 18, 82.
- Croset, V., Rytz, R., Cummins, S.F., Budd, A., Brawand, D., Kaessmann, H., et al., 2010. Ancient protostome origin of chemosensory ionotropic glutamate receptors and the evolution of insect taste and olfaction. PLOS Genet. 6, e1001064.
- da Silva, F.R., Breviglieri, C.P.B., 2021. Not only a listener: female frog-biting midges (Corethrellidae) also distinguish the shape of frogs. J. Tropical Ecol. 37, 157–160.
- Daszak, P., Cunningham, A.A., Hyatt, A.D., 2000. Emerging infectious diseases of wildlife—threats to biodiversity and human health. Science 287, 443–449.
- de Angeli Dutra, D., Poulin, R., Ferreira, F.C., 2022. Evolutionary consequences of vector-borne transmission: how using vectors shapes host, vector and pathogen evolution. Parasitology 149, 1667–1678.
- de Angeli Dutra, D., Salloum, P.M., Poulin, R., 2023. Vector microbiome: will global climate change affect vector competence and pathogen transmission? Parasitol. Res. 122, 11–17.
- De Obaldia, M.E., Morita, T., Dedmon, L.C., Boehmler, D.J., Jiang, C.S., Zeledon, E.V., et al., 2022. Differential mosquito attraction to humans is associated with skin-derived carboxylic acid levels. Cell 185, 4099–4116.
- de Silva, P., Nutter, B., Bernal, X.E., 2015. Use of acoustic signals in mating in an eavesdropping frog-biting midge. Anim. Behav. 103, 45–51.
- Díez-Fernández, A., Martínez-de la Puente, J., Gangoso, L., López, P., Soriguer, R., Martín, J., et al., 2020. Mosquitoes are attracted by the odour of *Plasmodium*-infected birds. Int. J. Parasitol. 50, 569–575.

- Doherty, J.-F., Chai, X., Cope, L.E., de Angeli Dutra, D., Milotic, M., Ni, S., et al., 2021. The rise of big data in disease ecology. Trends Parasitol. 37, 1034–1037.
- Doherty, J.-F., Matthews, B.J., 2022. Host manipulation, gene editing, and non-traditional model organisms: a new frontier for behavioral research? Front. Insect Sci. 2, 938644.
- Duvall, L.B., Ramos-Espiritu, L., Barsoum, K.E., Glickman, J.F., Vosshall, L.B., 2019. Small-molecule agonists of *Ae. aegypti* neuropeptide Y receptor block mosquito biting. Cell 176, 687–701.
- Enjin, A., Zaharieva, E.E., Frank, D.D., Mansourian, S., Suh, G.S.B., Gallio, M., et al., 2016. Humidity sensing in *Drosophila*. Curr. Biol. 26, 1352–1358.
- Eun Kim, S., Coste, B., Chadha, A., Cook, B., Patapoutian, A., 2012. The role of *Drosophila* piezo in mechanical nociception. Nature 483, 209–212.
- Evans, A.G., Wellems, T.E., 2002. Coevolutionary genetics of *Plasmodium* malaria parasites and their human hosts. Integr. Comp. Biol. 42, 401–407.
- Ezenwa, V.O., Gerardo, N.M., Inouye, D.W., Medina, M., Xavier, J.B., 2012. Microbiology. animal behavior and the microbiome. Science 338, 198–199.
- Faulde, M.K., Robbins, R.G., 2008. Tick infestation risk and Borrelia burgdorferi s.l. infection-induced increase in host-finding efficacy of female Ixodes ricinus under natural conditions. Exp. Appl. Acarol. 44, 137–145.
- Fontaine, A., Diouf, I., Bakkali, N., Missé, D., Pagès, F., Fusai, T., et al., 2011. Implication of haematophagous arthropod salivary proteins in host-vector interactions. Parasit. Vectors 4, 187.
- Fowler, M.A., Montell, C., 2013. *Drosophila* TRP channels and animal behavior. Life Sci. 92, 394–403.
- Georgiades, M., Alampounti, A., Somers, J., Su, M.P., Ellis, D.A., Bagi, J., et al., 2023. Hearing of malaria mosquitoes is modulated by a beta-adrenergic-like octopamine receptor which serves as insecticide target. Nat. Comm. 14, 4338.
- Giraldo, D., Rankin-Turner, S., Corver, A., Tauxe, G.M., Gao, A.L., Jackson, D.M., et al., 2023. Human scent guides mosquito thermotaxis and host selection under naturalistic conditions. Curr. Biol. 33, 2367–2382 e2367.
- Göpfert, M.C., Hennig, R.M., 2016. Hearing in Insects. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 61, 257–276.
- Greppi, C., Laursen, W.J., Budelli, G., Chang, E.C., Daniels, A.M., van Giesen, L., et al., 2020. Mosquito heat seeking is driven by an ancestral cooling receptor. Science 367, 681–684.
- Guignard, Q., Allison, J.D., Slippers, B., 2022. The evolution of insect visual opsin genes with specific consideration of the influence of ocelli and life history traits. BMC Ecol. Evol. 22, 2.
- Haines, L.R., 2013. Examining the tsetse teneral phenomenon and permissiveness to trypanosome infection. Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiology 3, 84.
- Helfrich-Förster, C., 2020. Light input pathways to the circadian clock of insects with an emphasis on the fruit fly *Drosophila melanogaster*. J. Comp. Physiol. 206, 259–272.
- Herbison, R.E.H., 2017. Lessons in mind control: trends in research on the molecular mechanisms behind parasite-host behavioral manipulation. Front. Ecol. Evolution 5.
- Hoover, K., Grove, M., Gardner, M., Hughes, D.P., McNeil, J., Slavicek, J., 2011. A gene for an extended phenotype. Science 333, 1401 1401.
- Horváth, G., Szörényi, T., Pereszlényi, Á., Gerics, B., Hegedüs, R., Barta, A., et al., 2017. Why do horseflies need polarization vision for host detection? Polarization helps tabanid flies to select sunlit dark host animals from the dark patches of the visual environment. R. Soc. Open. Sci. 4, 170735.
- Hwang, W.S., Weirauch, C., 2012. Evolutionary history of assassin bugs (Insecta, Hemiptera, Reduviidae); insights from divergence dating and ancestral state reconstruction. PLoS One 2012, e45523.

- Ignell, R., Lazzari, C.R., Lorenzo, M.G., 2022. Sensory Ecology of Disease Vectors. Wageningen Academic Publishers,, Wageningen, The Netherlands.
- Indacochea, A., Gard, C.C., Hansen, I.A., Pierce, J., Romero, A., 2017. Short-range responses of the kissing bug *Triatoma rubida* (Hemiptera: Reduviidae) to carbon dioxide, moisture, and artificial light. Insects 8, 90.
- Ippolito, M.M., Denny, J.E., Langelier, C., Sears, C.L., Schmidt, N.W., 2018. Malaria and the microbiome: a systematic review. Clin. Infect. Dis. 67, 1831–1839.
- Javed, N., Bhatti, A., Paradkar, P.N., 2021. Advances in understanding vector behavioural traits after infection. Pathogens 10, 1376.
- Johnson, K.N., 2015. The impact of *Wolbachia* on virus infection in mosquitoes. Viruses 7, 5705–5717.
- Johnson, K.P., Dietrich, C.H., Friedrich, F., Beutel, R.G., Wipfler, B., Peters, R.S., et al., 2018. Phylogenomics and the evolution of hemipteroid insects. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 115, 12775–12780.
- Jones, W., 2013. Olfactory carbon dioxide detection by insects and other animals. Mol. Cell 35, 87–92.
- Jové, V., Gong, Z., Hol, F.J.H., Zhao, Z., Sorrells, T.R., Carroll, T.S., et al., 2020. Sensory discrimination of blood and floral nectar by *Aedes aegypti* mosquitoes. Neuron (Cambridge, Mass.) 108, 1163–1180.
- Jung, J.W., Baeck, S.-J., Perumalsamy, H., Hansson, B.S., Ahn, Y.-J., Kwon, H.W., 2015. A novel olfactory pathway is essential for fast and efficient blood-feeding in mosquitoes. Sci. Rep-Uk 5, 13444.
- Kawahara, A.Y., Plotkin, D., Espeland, M., Meusemann, K., Toussaint, E.F.A., Donath, A., et al., 2019. Phylogenomics reveals the evolutionary timing and pattern of butterflies and moths. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 116, 22657–22663.
- Khanal, S., Taank, V., Anderson, J.F., Sultana, H., Neelakanta, G., 2022. Rickettsial pathogen perturbs tick circadian gene to infect the vertebrate host. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 23, 3545.
- King, B.H., Gunathunga, P.B., 2023. Gustation across the class insecta: body locations. Ann. Entomol. Soc. Am. 1–7.
- Kistler, K.E., Vosshall, L.B., Matthews, B.J., 2015. Genome engineering with CRISPR-Cas9 in the mosquito Aedes aegypti. Cell Rep. 11, 51–60.
- Klowden, M.J., Lea, A.O., 1979. Humoral inhibition of host-seeking in *Aedes aegypti* during oöcyte maturation. J. Insect Physiol. 25, 231–235.
- Knecht, Z.A., Silbering, A.F., Cruz, J., Yang, L., Croset, V., Benton, R., et al., 2017. Ionotropic receptor-dependent moist and dry cells control hygrosensation in *Drosophila*. eLife 6, e26654.
- Knecht, Z.A., Silbering, A.F., Ni, L., Klein, M., Budelli, G., Bell, R., et al., 2016. Distinct combinations of variant ionotropic glutamate receptors mediate thermosensation and hygrosensation in *Drosophila*. eLife 5, e17879.
- Konopka, J.K., Task, D., Poinapen, D., Potter, C.J., 2023. Neurogenetic identification of mosquito sensory neurons. iScience 26, 106690.
- Krenn, H.W., Aspöck, H., 2012. Form, function and evolution of the mouthparts of bloodfeeding Arthropoda. Arthropod Struct. Dev. 41, 101–118.
- LaDeau, S.L., Kilpatrick, A.M., Marra, P.P., 2007. West Nile virus emergence and largescale declines of North American bird populations. Nature 447, 710–713.
- Lai, O., Ho, D., Glick, S., Jagdeo, J., 2016. Bed bugs and possible transmission of human pathogens: a systematic review. Arch. Dermatol. Res. 308, 531–538.
- Latorre-Estivalis, J.M., Lorenzo, M.G., 2019. Molecular bases of sensory processes in kissing bugs, vectors of Chagas disease. Curr. Opin. Insect Sci. 34, 80–84.
- Laursen, W.J., Budelli, G., Tang, R., Chang, E.C., Busby, R., Shankar, S., et al., 2023. Humidity sensors that alert mosquitoes to nearby hosts and egg-laying sites. Neuron 111, 1–14.

ARTICLE IN PRESS

- Lazzari, C.R., 2021. The behaviour of kissing bugs. In: Guarneri, A., Lorenzo, M. (Eds.), Triatominae: The Biology of Chagas Disease Vectors. Springer, Switzerland, pp. 215–238.
- Leal, B., Zamora, E., Fuentes, A., Thomas, D.B., Dearth, R.K., 2020. Questing by Tick Larvae (Acari: Ixodidae): a review of the influences that affect off-host survival. Ann. Entomol. Soc. Am. 113, 425–438.
- Leonovich, S.A., 2015. Ontogenesis of the questing behavior of hard ticks (Ixodidae). Entomol. Rev. 95, 795–804.
- Liu, F., Ye, Z., Baker, A., Sun, H., Zwiebel, L.J., 2020. Gene editing reveals obligate and modulatory components of the CO₂ receptor complex in the malaria vector mosquito, *Anopheles coluzzii*. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 127, 103470.
- Liu, M.Z., Vosshall, L.B., 2019. General visual and contingent thermal cues interact to elicit attraction in female *Aedes aegypti* mosquitoes. Curr. Biol. 29, 2250–2257.
- Maekawa, E., Aonuma, H., Nelson, B., Yoshimura, A., Tokunaga, F., Fukumoto, S., et al., 2011. The role of pscis of the malaria vector mosquito *Anopheles stephensi* in hostseeking behavior. Parasit. Vectors 4, 10.
- Mans, B.J., 2011. Evolution of vertebrate hemostatic and inflammatory control mechanisms in blood-feeding arthropods. J. Innate Immun. 3, 41–51.
- Mans, B.J., de Klerk, D., Pienaar, R., de Castro, M.H., Latif, A.A., 2013. Correction: the mitochondrial genomes of *Nuttalliella namaqua* (Ixodoidea: Nuttalliellidae) and *Argas africolumbae* (Ixodoidae: Argasidae): estimation of divergence dates for the major tick lineages and reconstruction of ancestral blood-feeding characters. PLoS One 8, 1–3.
- Martin, J.P., Beyerlein, A., Dacks, A.M., Reisenman, C.E., Riffell, J.A., Lei, H., et al., 2011. The neurobiology of insect olfaction: sensory processing in a comparative context. Prog. Neurobiol. 95, 427–447.
- Matthews, B.J., McBride, C.S., DeGennaro, M., Despo, O., Vosshall, L.B., 2016. The neurotranscriptome of the *Aedes aegypti* mosquito. BMC Genomics 17, 32.
- McDermott, E.G., Mayo, C.E., Gerry, A.C., Laudier, D., MacLachlan, N.J., Mullens, B.A., 2015. Bluetongue virus infection creates light averse *Culicoides* vectors and serious errors in transmission risk estimates. Parasit. Vectors 8, 460.
- McMeniman, C.J., Corfas, R.A., Matthews, B.J., Ritchie, S.A., Vosshall, L.B., 2014. Multimodal integration of carbon dioxide and other sensory cues drives mosquito attraction to humans. Cell 156, P1060–P1071.
- Meglič, A., Ilić, M., Pirih, P., Škorjanc, A., Wehling, M.F., Kreft, M., et al., 2019. Horsefly object-directed polarotaxis is mediated by a stochastically distributed ommatidial subtype in the ventral retina. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 116, 21843–21853.
- Menda, G., Nitzany, E.I., Shamble, P.S., Wells, A., Harrington, L.C., Miles, R.N., et al., 2019. The long and short of hearing in the mosquito *Aedes aegypti*. Curr. Biol. 29, 709–714.
- Min, S., Oh, Y., Verma, P., Whitehead, S.C., Yapici, N., Van Vactor, D., et al., 2021. Control of feeding by Piezo-mediated gut mechanosensation in *Drosophila*. eLife 10, e63049.
- Mitchell, R.D., Zhu, J., Carr, A.L., Dhammi, A., Cave, G., Sonenshine, D.E., et al., 2017. Infrared light detection by the Haller's organ of adult American dog ticks, *Dermacentor variabilis* (Ixodida: Ixodidae). Ticks Tick-Borne Dis. 8, 764–771.
- Narayanan Kutty, S., Wong, W.H., Meusemann, K., Meier, R., Cranston, P.S., 2018. A phylogenomic analysis of Culicomorpha (Diptera) resolves the relationships among the eight constituent families: phylogenomic analysis of Culicomorpha. Syst. Entomol. 43, 434–446.
- Ni, L., 2021. The structure and function of ionotropic receptors in *Drosophila*. Front. Mol. Neurosci. 13, 638839.
- Ni, L., Klein, M., Svec, K.V., Budelli, G., Chang, E.C., Ferrer, A.J., et al., 2016. The ionotropic receptors IR21a and IR25a mediate cool sensing in *Drosophila*. eLife 5, e13254.
- Ni, M., Zhao, T., Lv, H.-X., Li, M.-J., Xing, D., Zhao, T.-Y., et al., 2022. Screening for odorant receptor genes expressed in *Aedes aegypti* involved in host-seeking, bloodfeeding and oviposition behaviors. Parasit. Vectors 15, 71.

- Oh, S.M., Jeong, K., Seo, J.T., Moon, S.J., 2021. Multisensory interactions regulate feeding behavior in *Drosophila*. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 118, e2004523118.
- Ortega-Insaurralde, I., Barrozo, R.B., 2022. The closer the better: sensory tools and hostassociation in blood-sucking insects. J. Insect Physiol. 136, 104346.
- Pontes, G., Latorre-Estivalis, J.M., Gutiérrez, M.L., Cano, A., Berón de Astrada, M., Lorenzo, M.G., et al., 2022. Molecular and functional basis of high-salt avoidance in a blood-sucking insect. iScience 25, 104502.
- Poulin, R., 1995. "Adaptive" changes in the behaviour of parasitized animals: a critical review. Int. J. Parasitol. 25, 1371–1383.
- Poulin, R., 2010. Parasite manipulation of host behavior: an update and frequently asked questions. Adv. Study Behav. 41, 151–186.
- Poulin, R., 2023. Light pollution may alter host–parasite interactions in aquatic ecosystems. Trends Parasitol.
- Poulin, R., Maure, F., 2015. Host manipulation by parasites: a look back before moving forward. Trends Parasitol. 31, 563–570.
- Puschnik, A.S., Majzoub, K., Ooi, Y.S., Carette, J.E., 2017. A CRISPR toolbox to study virus-host interactions. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 15, 351–364.
- Raji, J.I., Melo, N., Castillo, J.S., Gonzalez, S., Saldana, V., Stensmyr, M.C., et al., 2019. *Aedes aegypti* mosquitoes detect acidic volatiles found in human odor using the IR8a pathway. Curr. Biol. 29, 1253–1262.e1257.
- Ribeiro, J.M., 1995. Blood-feeding arthropods: live syringes or invertebrate pharmacologists? Infect. Agents Dis. 4, 143–152.
- Rispe, C., Hervet, C., de la Cotte, N., Daveu, R., Labadie, K., Noel, B., et al., 2022. Transcriptome of the synganglion in the tick *Ixodes ricinus* and evolution of the cys-loop ligand-gated ion channel family in ticks. BMC Genomics 23, 463.
- Robinson, A., Busula, A.O., Voets, M.A., Beshir, K.B., Caulfield, J.C., Powers, S.J., et al., 2018. *Plasmodium*-associated changes in human odor attract mosquitoes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 115, E4209–E4218.
- Rytz, R., Croset, V., Benton, R., 2013. Ionotropic Receptors (IRs): chemosensory ionotropic glutamate receptors in *Drosophila* and beyond. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 43, 888–897.
- Sánchez-Alcañiz, J.A., Zappia, G., Marion-Poll, F., Benton, R., 2017. A mechanosensory receptor required for food texture detection in *Drosophila*. Nat. Commun. 8, 14192.
- Sehdev, A., Mohammed, Y.G., Triphan, T., Szyszka, P., 2019. Olfactory object recognition based on fine-scale stimulus timing in *Drosophila*. iScience 13, 113–124.
- Shaw, W.R., Catteruccia, F., 2019. Vector biology meets disease control: using basic research to fight vector-borne diseases. Nat. Microbiology 4, 20–34.
- Simões, P.M.V., Ingham, R.A., Gibson, G., Russell, I.J., 2016. A role for acoustic distortion in novel rapid frequency modulation behaviour in free-flying male mosquitoes. J. Exp. Biol. 219, 2039–2047.
- Smarandache-Wellmann, C.R., 2016. Arthropod neurons and nervous system. Curr. Biol. 26, R960–R965.
- Soares, S.F., Louly, C.C.B., Marion-Poll, F., Ribeiro, M.F.B., Borges, L.M.F., 2013. Study on cheliceral sensilla of the brown dog tick *Rhipicephalus sanguineus* (Latreille, 1806) (Acari: Ixodidae) involved in taste perception of phagostimulants. Acta Trop. 126, 75–83.
- Song, N., Liang, A.-P., Bu, C.-P., 2012. A molecular phylogeny of Hemiptera inferred from mitochondrial genome sequences. PLoS One 7, e48778.
- Sorrells, T.R., Pandey, A., Rosas-Villegas, A., Vosshall, L.B., 2022. A persistent behavioral state enables sustained predation of humans by mosquitoes. eLife 11, e76663.
- Stanczyk, N.M., Brugman, V.A., Austin, V., Sanchez-Roman Teran, F., Gezan, S.A., Emery, M., et al., 2019. Species-specific alterations in *Anopheles* mosquito olfactory responses caused by *Plasmodium* infection. Sci. Rep-UK 9, 3396.

- Stanczyk, N.M., Mescher, M.C., De Moraes, C.M., 2017. Effects of malaria infection on mosquito olfaction and behavior: extrapolating data to the field. Curr. Opin. Insect Sci. 20, 7–12.
- Steele, C.H., McDermott, E.G., 2022. Male and female mosquito (Diptera: Culicidae) attraction to sound and its relevance to potential applications in vector surveillance. Ann. Entomol. Soc. Am. 115, 113–126.
- Sumner, B.D., Cardé, R.T., 2022. Primacy of human odors over visual and heat cues in inducing landing in female *Aedes aegypti* mosquitoes. J. Insect Behav. 35, 31–43.
- Swei, A., Couper, L.I., Coffey, L.L., Kapan, D., Bennett, S., 2020. Patterns, drivers, and challenges of vector-borne disease emergence. Vector-Borne Zoonot 20, 159.
- Terakita, A., 2005. The opsins. Genome Biol. 6, 213.
- Van Dam, M.H., Trautwein, M., Spicer, G.S., Esposito, L., 2019. Advancing mite phylogenomics: Designing ultraconserved elements for Acari phylogeny. Mol. Ecol. Resour. 19, 465–475.
- van der Kooi, C.J., Stavenga, D.G., Arikawa, K., Beluši, G., Kelber, A., 2021. Evolution of insect color vision: from spectral sensitivity to visual ecology. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 66, 435–461.
- van Giesen, L., Garrity, P.A., 2017. More than meets the IR: the expanding roles of variant ionotropic glutamate receptors in sensing odor, taste, temperature and moisture. F1000 Res. 6, 1753.
- van Breugel, F., Riffell, J., Fairhall, A., Dickinson, Michael H., 2015. Mosquitoes use vision to associate odor plumes with thermal targets. Curr. Biol. 25, 2123–2129.
- Vantaux, A., Yao, F., Hien, D.F., Guissou, E., Yameogo, B.K., Gouagna, L.-C., et al., 2021. Field evidence for manipulation of mosquito host selection by the human malaria parasite, *Plasmodium falciparum*. Peer Community J. 1, e13.
- Videvall, E., Marzal, A., Magallanes, S., Fleischer, R.C., Espinoza, K., García-Longoria, L., 2021. The uropygial gland microbiome of house sparrows with malaria infection. J. Avian Biol. 52, 02686.
- Vizueta Moraga, J., Rozas Liras, J.A., Sánchez-Gracia, A., 2018. Comparative genomics reveals thousands of novel chemosensory genes and massive changes in chemoreceptor repertories across chelicerates. Genome Biol. Evol. 10, 1221–1236.
- Wang, J.Y., Doudna, J.A., 2023. CRISPR technology: a decade of genome editing is only the beginning. Science 379, eadd8643.
- Whitington, P.M., Mayer, G., 2011. The origins of the arthropod nervous system: Insights from the Onychophora. Arthropod Struct. Dev. 40, 193–209.
- Wiegmann, B.M., Trautwein, M.D., Winkler, I.S., Barr, N.B., Kim, J.-W., Lambkin, C., et al., 2011. Episodic radiations in the fly tree of life. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 108, 5690–5695.
- Wilson, A.L., Courtenay, O., Kelly-Hope, L.A., Scott, T.W., Takken, W., Torr, S.J., et al., 2020. The importance of vector control for the control and elimination of vector-borne diseases. PLOS Negl. Trop. Dis. 14, e0007831.
- Wolff, G.H., Riffell, J.A., 2018. Olfaction, experience and neural mechanisms underlying mosquito host preference. J. Exp. Biol. 221, jeb157131.
- Xu, P., Choo, Y.-M., De La Rosa, A., Leal, W.S., 2014. Mosquito odorant receptor for DEET and methyl jasmonate. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 111, 16592–16597.
- Xu, Y.Y.J., Loh, Y.M., Lee, T.-T., Ohasi, T.S., Su, M.P., Kamikouchi, A., 2022. Serotonin modulation in the male *Aedes aegypti* ear influences hearing. Front. Physiol. 13, 931567.
- Yang, F., Chan, K., Brewster, C.C., Paulson, S.L., 2019. Effects of La Crosse virus infection on the host-seeking behavior and levels of two neurotransmitters in *Aedes triseriatus*. Parasit. Vectors 12, 397.

- Ye, Z., Liu, F., Sun, H., Ferguson, S.T., Baker, A., Ochieng, S.A., et al., 2022. Discrete roles of Ir76b ionotropic coreceptor impact olfaction, blood feeding, and mating in the malaria vector mosquito *Anopheles coluzzii*. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 119, e2112385119.
- Zermoglio, P.F., Latorre-Estivalis, J.M., Crespo, J.E., Lorenzo, M.G., Lazzari, C.R., 2015. Thermosensation and the TRPV channel in *Rhodnius prolixus*. J. Insect Physiol. 81, 145–156.
- Zermoglio, P.F., Robuchon, E., Leonardi, M.S., Chandre, F., Lazzari, C.R., 2017. What does heat tell a mosquito? Characterization of the orientation behaviour of *Aedes aegypti* towards heat sources. J. Insect Physiol. 100, 9–14.
- Zhan, Y., Alonso San Alberto, D., Rusch, C., Riffell, J.A., Montell, C., 2021. Elimination of vision-guided target attraction in *Aedes aegypti* using CRISPR. Curr. Biol. 31, 4180–4187.
- Zhang, H., Zhu, Y., Liu, Z., Peng, Y., Peng, W., Tong, L., et al., 2022. A volatile from the skin microbiota of flavivirus-infected hosts promotes mosquito attractiveness. Cell 185, 2510–2522.
- Zhang, Y.V., Aikin, T.J., Li, Z., Montell, C., 2016. The basis of food texture sensation in *Drosophila*. Neuron 91, 863–877.
- Zhao, Z., Zung, J.L., Hinze, A., Kriete, A.L., Iqbal, A., Younger, M.A., et al., 2022. Mosquito brains encode unique features of human odour to drive host seeking. Nature 605, 706–712.
- Zheng, X., Zhang, R., Yue, B., Wu, Y., Yang, N., Zhou, C., 2022. Enhanced resolution of evolution and phylogeny of the moths inferred from nineteen mitochondrial genomes. Genes 13, 1634.
- Zhou, Y., Cao, L.-H., Sui, X.-W., Guo, X.-Q., Luo, D.-G., 2019. Mechanosensory circuits coordinate two opposing motor actions in *Drosophila* feeding. Sci. Adv. 5, eaaw5141.